
 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 1 of 94 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 

 

NOVEMBER 18, 2025 BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING MINUTES (DRAFT) 

 

 

A Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank was held on Tuesday, 

November 18, 2025, at 1234 Market Street, 17th Floor Boardroom, Philadelphia, PA 19107, of which 

proper notices were given. A condensed certified transcript of this meeting is attached to these minutes 

as Exhibit A. 

 

Call to Order 

 

The meeting was called to order at 10:10 am. 

 

Ms. Imredy Saah announced that prior to the Public Session, the Board held an Executive Session, 

during which Mr. Rodriguez gave an update on the Land Bank’s acquisition of properties at Sheriff’s 

sales, indicating that the final anticipated acquisition was scheduled for the following day, November 

19, 2025. She noted that the agenda was revised at the last minute to remove two items. 

 

Ms. Imredy Saah then explained that the Board will first discuss each proposed disposition before 

opening the floor to public comment. She explained that each speaker will be limited to two minutes, 

with time strictly enforced due to the length of the agenda. She added that public comments will be 

accepted by agenda item, and comments on matters not on the agenda should be held until the end of 

the meeting.   

 

Item I 

Roll Call 

 

The following members of the Board of Directors reported present: Angela Brooks, Nicholas Dema, 

Cornelius Brown, Andrew Goodman, Rebecca Lopez-Kriss, Jenny Greenberg, Alex Balloon, Kelvin 

Jeremiah, Darwin Beauvais, Maria Gonzalez, and Michael Johns.  

 

No board members were absent from the Board meeting.   

 

The following Land Bank staff members were present: Angel Rodriguez, Andrea Imredy Saah, Esq., 

Lily Bernadel, Esq., Cristina Martinez, Brian Romano, and Carolyn Terry. 

 

Public Attendees: The list of public attendees follows these minutes.   

 

Item II 

Approval of Board Minutes 

 

Vice Chair, Mr. Dema called for a motion to adopt the Board meeting minutes of September 9, 2025 

and October 14, 2025.   

 

Mr. Beauvais moved to approve the minutes. Ms. Gonzalez seconded the motion.  

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Board meeting minutes 

of September 9, 2025, and October 14, 2025. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 5 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 2 of 94 

Item III 

Executive Director’s Report 

 

Mr. Rodriguez welcomed the two new Board members, Angela Brooks and Alexander Balloon. He 

provided a brief update on the unified land use strategy plan, noting that it began two months ago and 

is expected to be completed by spring or summer of 2026. He stated that the Land Bank operational 

assessment has been completed and that outcomes will be discussed with the Board and made public 

once a rollout plan is determined, potentially by the next Board meeting. 

 

Mr. Rodriguez also reported that pursuant to Resolution No. 2023-32, he had administratively approved 

an increase in the maximum sales price for eight (8) affordable homeownership units in the 2nd Council 

District to be developed by Fine Print Construction. He shared that the price increased from $267,000 

to $280,000 due to increased construction costs and difficult soil conditions on the sites. He noted that 

the AMI requirement remains at 80%. 

 

The Executive Director’s report is attached to these minutes as Exhibit B.  

 

Item IV 

Administrative 

 

IV.A.  Election of Board Chair   

 

As Acting Chair, Mr. Dema moved the meeting to administrative matters and asked Ms. Saah to 

proceed.  

 

Ms. Saah stated that, following the departure of former Board Chair Herbert Wetzel, the Board solicited 

nominations in accordance with the bylaws and received one nomination for Angela Brooks. She 

explained that the election is uncontested and that the Board is being asked to elect Angela Brooks as 

Chair until officer elections are held at the next Annual Meeting in August 2026. 

 

Mr. Dema asked whether there were any Board questions or public comments. There were none. 

 

Mr. Dema then requested a motion to elect the Board Chair.  

 

Mr. Beauvais moved to elect Ms. Brooks as Board Chair, and Ms. Greenberg seconded the motion. 

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Appointing 

Angela Brooks as Board Chair (attached to these minutes as Exhibit C). 

 

IV.B.  Substitution of Developer Entity   

 

Mr. Dema turned the meeting over to the newly elected Chair, Angela Brooks.  

 

Mr. Rodriguez requested Board approval for the substitution of separate special purpose entities as 

developers for individual sites being developed by Fine Print Construction LLC, the approved 

developer of mixed-income rental properties at several sites in the Second (2nd) Council District. He 

noted that the disposition was approved by Board Resolution 2022-55 on December 13, 2022. The 

request was made by the applicant, and the proposed new entities are: 2329 Ellsworth LLC; 2445 

Federal LLC; 1709 Point Breeze LLC; 1711 Point Breeze LLC; and SUUDA-Kenyatta Bey LLC. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 6 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 3 of 94 

Mr. Dema asked whether the substitution was essentially a name change with no change in principals.  

 

Ms. Imredy Saah clarified that Board approval is required because the members of the original LLC 

created a new entity for each building but confirmed that the principals of each new entity remain the 

same. 

 

With no questions from the Board and no written comments, Chair Brooks called for a motion to adopt 

the resolution approving the developer substitution. 

 

Mr. Johns moved to approve the disposition, and Mr. Beauvais seconded the motion.  

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Amending 

Resolution 2022–55 to Substitute Special Purpose Entities for Fine Print Construction, LLC as 

Developer of 2329 Ellsworth Street, 2445 Federal Street, 1709 Point Breeze Avenue, 1711 Point 

Breeze Avenue, 1822-34 Rear Point Breeze Avenue, and 1836 Point Breeze Avenue (attached to 

these minutes as Exhibit D). 

 

Item V 

Property Dispositions 

 

V.A.1. Development – Affordable Housing (RFP) – Francisville Ogden et al – Francisville 

Commons 1, LLC 

 

Mr. Rodriguez requested Board approval to convey 1437, 1438, 1539, 1544, 1546 and 1610 Ogden 

Street; 863 N. 15th Street; and 841, 845 and 851 N. 16th Street (CD 5) to Francisville Commons 1 

LLC to develop ten single-family homes. He stated that the homes will be approximately 1,200 square 

feet, sold to households at or below 100% of AMI for up to $280,000, and eligible for the Turn the Key 

program. He added that the minority-owned, PHDC-approved developer was selected through an RFP, 

met all requirements, held community meetings without objection, and is in attendance. 

 

Mr. Johns encouraged the developer to raise basement levels above grade to allow for more natural 

light and reduce flooding risks. 

 

Mr. Goodman agreed, adding that since most nearby homes appear to be three stories rather than two, 

increasing the height would help the proposed homes better fit the neighborhood context. 

 

Ms. Imredy Saah stated that the Land Bank received seventeen (17) public comments and a petition 

with approximately 600 signatures opposing development of 1544 and 1546 Ogden Street and 

requesting that the lots remain as community open space. She noted that the site is not a licensed garden 

and there is no formal agreement for its use. All written comments received are attached to these 

minutes as Exhibit E). 

 

Mr. Jeremiah asked how the two Ogden Street lots differ from the parcels proposed by Fifth District 

Councilmember Young as an alternative garden site.  Ms. Saah responded that she was not aware of 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 7 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 4 of 94 

the details, understood the alternative site to be 1438 Poplar Street, and noted that such discussions 

occur between the Council office and the residents, not the Land Bank. 

 

Mr. Jeremiah asked whether excluding the two parcels would impact the developer’s plans.  

 

Mr. Rodriguez responded that the project resulted from an RFP issued in coordination with the Council 

office, and changing the inventory at this stage would be unfair to other applicants who did not have 

the opportunity to propose on a different set of parcels. He added that the inventory was reviewed with 

the Council office prior to issuance of the RFP. 

 

Ms. Brooks invited the Council office representative to speak before moving on to members of the 

public who had signed up to speak on this particular agenda item.   

 

Mr. Crosley identified himself as representing the Fifth Council District and stated that the Council 

office fully supports the proposal. Ms. Brooks thanked him. 

 

Mr. Michael Katz, a resident of the community, stated that he chose to live near the community garden 

and values it as an important space for connection, recreation, and neighborhood life. He expressed 

concern that removing a long-standing garden in favor of development overlooks the role green space 

plays in building community and urged consideration of its impact alongside the need for housing. 

 

Mr. Brown asked whether an application had been submitted for use of the garden. Mr. Rodriguez 

responded that, in the Fifth Council District, the priority for certain areas has consistently been 

affordable housing, so side yard or garden agreements were not available, and this policy did not 

change between Council administrations. 

 

Ms. Ashley Knueppel, a resident of the community, explained that she and her husband cleaned up the 

Ogden Street lots in 2020 and helped create a community garden that is now widely used for 

neighborhood events. She noted that the garden was never formally approved but emphasized strong 

community support, citing a petition with over 600 signatures. She stated that she supports affordable 

housing and the developer but requested that the two lots be removed from the project due to the 

garden’s community value and lack of early community engagement. 

 

Mr. Joe Deutschman, the block captain for 15th and Ogden Street, urged the Board to preserve the 

garden if possible and raised concerns that the proposed two-story homes would not match the 

surrounding four-story buildings, suggesting a three-story design instead. He also stated that the current 

garden site is more visible and feels safer than the proposed alternative location, which he described 

as less central and near abandoned buildings. 

 

Mr. Brandon Burns, a nearby community member, expressed concern about developing housing on the 

community garden, emphasizing the importance of preserving scarce urban green space. While voicing 

support for affordable housing, he asked whether alternative sites could be considered given the lack 

of other public open spaces in the neighborhood. 

 

Mr. Spiller, a longtime Ogden Street resident, expressed support for workforce and affordable housing 

but emphasized that the community garden is essential for neighborhood connection and local 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 8 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 5 of 94 

businesses. He raised concerns about the safety and suitability of the proposed Poplar Street alternative 

and urged the Board to explore creative options, such as swapping lots, to preserve the garden. 

 

Mr. Jeremiah asked whether the community engaged with Councilmember Young about their 

opposition. Mr. Deutschman responded that they did not meet directly with the Councilmember but 

worked with Mr. Crosley to consider relocating the garden to 1438 Poplar Street with potential City 

support. He stated this did not resolve concerns because the alternative site is less central, has lower 

foot traffic, and presents safety issues. 

 

Mr. Jeremy Blatstein voiced support for Councilmember Young and the development, stating that 

informal garden use creates liability for the agency that owns the land and sets a poor precedent. He 

emphasized that the RFP’s purpose is to return vacant lots to productive use for housing. 

 

Mr. Jacob Pritchett acknowledged the value of community green spaces but urged the Board to 

prioritize the City’s urgent need for affordable housing and avoid actions that would delay or prevent 

its development. 

 

Ms. Patricia DeCarlo stated that removing the garden is unfair given the community’s seven years of 

maintenance and urged preserving the two lots while substituting other vacant parcels for development. 

 

Ms. Lopez-Kriss asked about the timeline if the lots were removed from the RFP. Mr. Rodriguez replied 

that reissuing the RFP would take at least 30 days, plus additional community meetings, potentially 

adding up to 60 days, and noted that the original RFP was posted sometime in early summer with 

multiple community meetings held. 

 

Mr. Goodman asked about neighborhood housing comparables for Turn the Key pricing. Mr. Rodriguez 

stated that Turn the Key homes would be well below market, with nearby home prices around $400,000 

to $500,000, and noted that he had not analyzed comparable vacant lots. 

 

Mr. Johns asked whether the developer could voluntarily exclude a lot after Board approval. Mr. 

Rodriguez responded that such a change is not part of the resolution and, if material, would require 

returning to the Board and coordination with the Council office. 

 

Mr. Jeremiah asked whether the developer had explored alternatives to preserve the garden. Mr. 

Coleman of The Prime Corporation responded that he met with the community and Council and is 

aware of the concerns, but explained that because the project resulted from an RFP, he has limited 

ability to change it and any modifications would require Council review. 

 

Ms. Brooks asked for further Board discussion.  

 

Ms. Imredy Saah noted the Board could adopt the resolution or propose an alternative, but changes to 

an RFP would effectively be a denial. Mr. Rodriguez cautioned that altering core RFP terms would 

undermine the process, and Ms. Imredy Saah added that removing two lots would be a material change 

requiring a new RFP. 

 

Ms. Gonzalez urged better identification of informal gardens and earlier community–Council 

coordination to avoid disruptions. Ms. Brooks emphasized City liability from unlicensed use and noted 

this may be addressed in the land strategy. Mr. Rodriguez stated that an inventory review and Council 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 9 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 6 of 94 

discussions occurred and that no party had a legal right to occupy the land. Ms. Greenberg added that 

a clear licensing and insurance process could help prevent similar issues. 

 

Mr. Balloon emphasized strong public support for the Turn the Key program, noting that many working 

residents cannot afford to buy in the neighborhood and that there is a waiting list and a City goal of 

1,000 Turn the Key homes.  

 

Ms. Brooks then called for a motion to adopt the resolution. 

 

Mr. Beauvais moved to approve the disposition, and Mr. Dema seconded the motion. 

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board held a roll call vote. Ten Board members voted in 

favor of the disposition (Angela Brooks, Nicholas Dema, Cornelius Brown, Andrew Goodman, 

Rebecca Lopez-Kriss, Alex Balloon, Kelvin Jeremiah, Darwin Beauvais, Maria Gonzalez, and Michael 

Johns), and one opposed the disposition (Ms. Greenberg).  

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board approved the Resolution Authorizing Conveyance 

of 1437, 1438, 1539, 1544, 1546 and 1610 Ogden Street; 863 North 15th Street; and 841, 845 and 

851 North 16th Street to Francisville Commons 1, LLC (attached as Exhibit F.) 

 

V.A.2. Development – Affordable Housing (RFP) – North Central Bailey St et al – Nation 

Builders WFH, LLC  

 

Senior Development Specialist Brian Romano requested Board approval for the disposition of 1808, 

1809, 1810, 1812, 1819, 1824, 1828, 1837 and 1838 N. Bailey Street; 2525 and 2611 Cecil B. Moore 

Avenue; 1725, 1726, 1729, 1747, 1749 and 1832 N. 26th Street; and 1735, 1747 and 1765 N. 27th 

Street in the Fifth (5th) Council District to Nation Builders WFH, LLC for the development of twenty 

(20) single-family homes. He stated that the homes will be eligible for the Turn the Key program, sold 

at up to $280,000 to households at or below 100% AMI.  He noted that the developer was selected 

through an RFP as the most qualified bidder, that three bids were submitted with two deemed qualified, 

that an EOP plan will be required, and that a community meeting was held on September 4, 2025. 

 

Seeing no questions from the Board, Chair Brooks asked if there were any written comments. 

 

Ms. Imredy Saah reported that one letter and a petition were submitted requesting that 1725 North 26th 

Street be removed from the project and preserved as open space, noting that the writer, Mr. Grossman, 

is present and signed up to speak. All written comments received are attached to these minutes as 

Exhibit G. 

 

Mr. Grossman stated that the September 4 meeting was not a meaningful community meeting, as no 

City staff attended and residents’ questions went unanswered. He explained that he and his neighbors 

support affordable housing generally but oppose development of 1725 North 26th Street, which they 

described as an actively used community garden and green space. Citing a petition with thirty (30) 

block residents’ signatures, he urged the Board to remove that single lot from the project and suggested 

that development occur on nearby vacant parcels instead, emphasizing the garden’s long-standing 

community use and value. 

 

Ms. Lopez-Kriss asked what questions went unanswered at the community meeting. Mr. Grossman 

responded that residents asked about the project timeline and other basic details, but the developer 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 10 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 7 of 94 

could not provide answers and no City or Council representative attended, making the meeting 

ineffective. 

 

Chair Brooks asked Mr. Rodriguez for clarification on the purpose of community meetings.  

 

Mr. Rodriguez explained that the meetings are informational sessions required to present proposed 

dispositions to the community and gather feedback, not deliberative or RCO meetings, and not intended 

for decision-making. He noted that developers may choose whether to incorporate community input 

before Board review and confirmed that the purpose is to inform residents about what is being 

proposed. 

 

Mr. Crosley stated that he represents the Fifth Council District and that the Council office fully supports 

disposition.   

 

Chair Brooks asked whether the community garden was licensed. Mr. Rodriguez stated that it was not, 

explaining that the area’s land-use policy prioritizes affordable housing and does not allow side-garden 

or open-space applications, including temporary leases. 

 

Mr. Pritchett urged the Board not to take action that would delay construction of new affordable 

housing, emphasizing Philadelphia’s urgent housing need. 

 

Seeing no further questions, Chair Brooks called for a motion. Mr. Balloon moved to approve the 

disposition, and Mr. Johns seconded the motion. 

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing 

Conveyance of 1808, 1809, 1810, 1812, 1819, 1824, 1828, 1837, 1838 N. Bailey Street; 2525, 2611 

Cecil B. Moore Avenue; 1725, 1726, 1729, 1747, 1749, 1832 N. 26th Street; 1735, 1747, 1765 N. 

27th Street (CD 5) to Nation Builders WFH, LLC (attached as Exhibit H.) 

 

V.A.3. Development – Affordable Housing (RFP) – North Central Etting Street et al – North 

Etting Commons LLC 

 

Mr. Romano requested Board approval for the disposition of 1816, 1817, 1838, 1839, 1841, 1842, 

1843, 1845, 1847, 1848, 1849, 1851, 1853, 1854, 1861, 1862 and 1866 N. Etting Street in the Fifth 

(5th) Council District to North Etting Commons, LLC for the development of seventeen (17) single-

family affordable homes. He stated that the homes will be sold to households at or below 100% AMI 

for up to $280,000, be eligible for the Turn the Key program, and were selected through an RFP as the 

most qualified proposal following a community meeting held on September 29th.  An EOP plan will 

be required. 

 

Ms. Saah reported that one letter was submitted regarding the North Central Etting Street RFP from 

the Strawberry Mansion Community RCO, expressing full support for the project and requesting Board 

approval. The written comment is attached to these minutes as Exhibit I. 

 

Ms. Cummings, Director of the Strawberry Mansion Community Concern RCO, stated that she 

submitted written comments and spoke to provide additional context. She emphasized her extensive 

professional background in City government, planning, and development and clarified that she does 

not oppose development itself but opposes development that lacks respect for community history and 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 11 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 8 of 94 

impact. She added that, in contrast, The Prime Corporation engaged with the community respectfully 

and with awareness of past trauma. 

 

Mr. Crosley stated that the Fifth Council District fully supports the disposition. 

 

Mr. Blatstein expressed support for the project and for Councilmember Young’s approach to advancing 

similar RFP projects in the Fifth Council District. 

 

Mr. Johns thanked Ms. Cummings for her continued engagement and noted that her support of the 

developer as a community partner rather than a “conqueror” was significant and meaningful. 

 

Chair Brooks called for a motion. Mr. Jeremiah moved to approve the disposition, and Mr. Johns 

seconded.  

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing 

Conveyance of 1816, 1817, 1838, 1839, 1841, 1842, 1843, 1845, 1847, 1848, 1849, 1851, 1853, 1854, 

1861, 1862, 1866 N. Etting Street (CD 5) to North Etting Commons, LLC (attached as Exhibit J). 

 

V.A.4.  Development – Affordable Housing (RFP) – Strawberry Mansion – Oakdale Street et al  

– Civetta Property Group, LLC 

 

Next, Mr. Romano requested Board approval for the disposition of 2420, 2438, 2442, 2456, 2648, 2650 

and 2651 N. Corlies Street; 2519, 2600, 2603, 2611, 2640, 2931, 2935, 3019, 3021, 3027, 3029, 3031 

and 3039 W. Oakdale Street; 2423, 2425, 2437, 2446, 2501, 2502, 2504, 2505, 2506, 2513, 2516, 2517, 

2526, 2529, 2539, 2542, 2556 and 2567 N. Stanley Street in the Fifth (5th) Council District to Civetta 

Property Group LLC for the development of thirty-eight (38) single-family affordable homes. He stated 

that the two-story homes will be approximately 1,375–1,400 square feet, sold to households at or below 

100% AMI for up to $280,000, and be eligible for the Turn the Key program. He noted that the 

developer was selected through an RFP as the most qualified bidder, that two qualified bids were 

received, the EOP applies, and a community meeting was held on October 9, 2025. 

 

Mr. Dema asked whether the removal of two properties was a technical matter and not a change to the 

RFP, and Mr. Rodriguez confirmed that it was technical and did not alter the RFP. 

 

Ms. Imredy Saah shared that one letter was submitted regarding the Strawberry Mansion RFP from the 

Strawberry Mansion Community RCO, expressing full support for the project and requesting Board 

approval. The written comment is attached to these minutes as Exhibit K. 

 

Seeing no further questions from the Board, Chair Brooks proceeded to public comments. 

 

Ms. Cummings expressed strong support for the Civetta Property Group project, citing community 

engagement, respect for neighborhood character, and pathways to homeownership, and also praised 

The Prime Corporation’s Etting Street proposal as a strong Turn the Key design. 

 

Mr. Crosley stated that the Fifth Council District supports the project. 

 

A member of the public made several comments regarding a developer, following which Mr. Jeremiah 

requested that those comments, which he perceived as a derogatory personal attack, be stricken from 

the record for not conforming to the Board’s policy.  Ms. Imredy Saah added that personal accusations 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 12 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 9 of 94 

are not permitted under the public comment policy and confirmed that the comment would not be 

included in the minutes. 

 

Mr. Edward Walter asked whether Turn the Key affordability at 100% AMI aligns with the program’s 

definition of “affordable” and whether AMI has a specific definition or is used more broadly. 

 

Mr. Rodriguez explained that Turn the Key homes are capped at 100% AMI to enable developers to 

secure construction financing, even though most buyers earn much less, around $45,000 per year. He 

described Turn the Key as a leverage program where the Land Bank discounts land value, developers 

and banks assume construction risk, and buyers receive subsidies. He added that although homes are 

priced at $280,000, the average mortgage at closing is about $180,000, resulting in monthly payments 

below area rents. 

 

Mr. Pritchett expressed support for the project, noting that adding thirty-eight homes is a positive step 

forward and that there are residents currently waiting for housing like this. 

 

Seeing no further questions, Chair Brooks called for a motion. Mr. Beauvais moved to approve the 

disposition, and Mr. Balloon seconded the motion. 

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing 

Conveyance of 2420, 2438, 2442, 2456, 2648, 2650 and 2651 North Corlies Street; 2519, 2600, 

2603, 2611, 2640, 2931, 2935, 3019, 3021, 3027, 3029, 3031 and 3039 West Oakdale Street; 2423, 

2425, 2437, 2446, 2501, 2502, 2504, 2505, 2506, 2513, 2516, 2517, 2526, 2529, 2539, 2542, 2556 

and 2567 North Stanley Street to Civetta Property Group LLC (attached as Exhibit L). 

 

V.B.1.  Development – Affordable Housing (unsolicited) – Trinity Property Advisors LLC – 

REMOVED FROM AGENDA 

 

V.B.2.  Development – Affordable Housing (unsolicited) – Civetta Property Group LLC - 

REMOVED FROM AGENDA 

 
V.B.3.  Development – Affordable Housing (unsolicited) – Civetta Property Group LLC  

 

Before moving on to the next item of the agenda, Ms. Imredy Saah explained that two items were 

removed from the agenda. She shared that the proposed disposition to Trinity Property Advisors was 

removed because the developer had not completed the required re-certification due to unresolved tax 

issues, which could not be cleared in time; she noted it will likely return in December. She stated that 

the second item, the proposed disposition to Civetta Property Group in the Third District, was removed 

at the developer’s request, as they are reconsidering how to phase and schedule their dispositions. 

 

Cristina Martinez, Senior Development Specialist, requested Board approval for conveyance of 509, 

511, 534 and 536 W. Dauphin Street; 310, 313, 503 and 505 Diamond Street; 516 and 518 Edgley 

Street; 2305, 2307 and 2309 N. Lawrence Street; 2210, 2212, 2233, 2306, 2308, 2310 and 2312 N. 

Leithgow Street; 447 W. Norris Street; 2206 N. Orianna Street; 2202, 2204 and 2257 N. Orkney Street; 

2049, 2138, 2236, 2252 and 2254 N. Reese Street; 304, 309, 311, 323 and 512 W. Susquehanna Avenue; 

and 2047, 2054 and 2151 N. 5th Street in the Seventh (7th) Council District to Civetta Property Group 

LLC to develop 30 single-family homes. She stated that the homes will be two- and three-story units 

of approximately 1,375 square feet, sold to households at or below 100% AMI for up to $280,000, and 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 13 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 10 of 94 

eligible for the Turn the Key program. She noted that the application was unsolicited, evaluated under 

the disposition policy, the EOP applies, and listed the properties included in the project. 

 

Mr. Rodriguez noted for the record that Mr. Johns had recused himself from consideration of the item. 

 

Chair Brooks reminded attendees that public comment is limited to two minutes and must remain non-

personal.  

 

Ms. Lopez-Kriss noted that 2257 North Orkney Street and 2247 North 5th Street were removed from 

the project. Chair Brooks confirmed the removals and asked whether there were any further Board 

questions before proceeding to public comments.  

 

Councilwoman Quetcy Lozada stated that she submitted a letter for the record and spoke in opposition 

to the project, noting this was the fourth time the community has raised concerns. She emphasized that 

her office follows a community-led process, expressed frustration that residents must repeatedly 

oppose a project she believes does not meet her district’s needs, and stated that the developer has not 

adequately responded to community requests. She urged the Board to respect and support the 

community’s position. 

 

Chair Brooks thanked Councilwoman Lozada and indicated that the Land Bank’s attorney would 

explain the process and why the item returned multiple times.  

 

Councilwoman Lozada responded that the process is not always applied consistently, stated that some 

parties receive opportunities others do not, and offered to provide data from her office to support that 

concern. 

 

Ms. Imredy Saah explained that once an applicant and application are qualified, the matter comes 

before the Board, and state law and the bylaws require six affirmative or negative votes for any 

disposition over $50,000. She stated that in prior instances the item did not receive a dispositive vote 

due to lack of quorum or insufficient votes, and that developers may request that the item be returned 

to the Board for consideration. She noted that the developer did so here and invited Councilwoman 

Lozada to submit any examples of inconsistent application of this process for review. 

 

Ms. Nilda Pimentel, representing neighborhood groups and the coordinating RCO, stated that the 

community has opposed the proposal multiple times and sought a more responsive alternative. She 

argued that similar projects in other districts have included lower-priced homes, noted the lack of 

affordable development in her neighborhood, and urged the Board to allow continued negotiations to 

expand access to the Turn the Key program for local residents. 

 

Ms. Imredy Saah summarized written correspondence received, including an October letter from the 

Councilwoman, a letter from Ceiba opposing the project pending completion of a comprehensive plan 

for publicly owned land in the Seventh Council District, and resident emails requesting preservation 

of certain lots as green space or supporting the project. She also noted receipt of a petition with sixteen 

(16) signatures supporting the project and written testimony from the developer outlining its 

engagement timeline with the Seventh Council District. All written comments received are attached to 

these minutes as Exhibit M. 

 

Ms. Talia Giles, Director of the Philly Liberation Center, stated that her organization and other 

neighborhood groups have opposed the Civetta project since July. She said the community 

recommended offering some homes at $250,000, challenged claims that lower AMI households would 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 14 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 11 of 94 

not be able to sustain mortgage payments, and urged negotiations with Councilmember Lozada, 

expressing concern that Civetta had not engaged in good-faith discussions with the community. 

 

Ms. Patricia DeCarlo criticized the Board’s process, stating that repeated community opposition has 

not meaningfully affected outcomes. She argued that long-standing community gardens should be 

identified before land is proposed for housing, called for stronger neighborhood integration into 

decision-making, and urged the Board to reject the project, citing community votes opposing it and 

concerns about affordability at 100% AMI. 

 

Ms. Pandin stated that many households in her neighborhood are single-income, working-class 

households and cannot afford the proposed home prices, noting that even two working adults may 

struggle given prevailing wages on projects like Civetta’s. 

 

Mr. Mo Rushdy thanked Councilmember Lozada for raising community concerns and stated that the 

issue is not disagreement with the program’s goals but misunderstanding of the legislation’s intent. He 

explained that Turn the Key represents a meaningful step toward affordability in a district with 

$700,000 to $800,000 homes, noting that buyers earning modest wages have been purchasing homes 

with mortgages around $180,000. He added that achieving lower AMI levels depends on mixed-

income, cross-subsidized development, and without it, deeper affordability becomes financially 

unworkable. 

 

Chair Brooks asked about recent construction cost increases. Mr. Rushdy explained that $280,000 

homes now cost roughly $263,000–$267,000 to build, making projects increasingly difficult to finance. 

He stated that construction costs have risen about thirty percent (30%) since 2019, citing an increase 

from roughly $240,000 to $325,000 for a 2,000-square-foot home. He added that rising costs have 

sharply reduced the number of homes sold under $350,000 outside of Turn the Key, emphasizing that 

price increases reflect cost pressures rather than profit. 

 

Mr. William Gonzales congratulated the new Chair and the Land Bank on the completion of its process 

assessment and urged consistency in applying process improvements. He requested that the Board 

pause the project to allow Councilmember Lozada’s forthcoming planning report to guide broader 

negotiations, emphasizing respect for the planning process and coordinated decision-making before 

proceeding. 

 

Mr. Blatstein stated his opinion that the Turn the Key program was enacted by City Council and that 

projects meeting its requirements must be approved by the Board. He emphasized that pricing 

differences affect subsidy levels, not the buyer’s final cost, which remains around $180,000, and argued 

that the program is intended to provide homeownership opportunities without discrimination. He urged 

approval of the project so the thirty homes can move forward for eligible buyers. 

 

Mr. Goodman stated that no discrimination is occurring and asked for clarification that the Turn the 

Key enabling legislation and the Land Bank disposition policy are separate. Ms. Imredy Saah 

responded that Turn the Key legislation and the Land Bank process were both set by Council, and Mr. 

Goodman reiterated that they are distinct. 

 

Ms. Relina Bonilla, a longtime neighborhood resident, stated that while she understands the need for 

housing and supports Turn the Key in concept, the affordability levels do not reflect the realities of 

low-income residents. She questioned whether local households can truly afford the mortgages, raised 

concerns about home design for seniors and families, and emphasized the financial strain on working 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 15 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 12 of 94 

residents who earn too much for assistance but still cannot afford homeownership, urging closer 

evaluation of neighborhood incomes and costs. 

 

As public comments concluded, Ms. Gonzalez stated that Board members support the Turn the Key 

program but recognize that rising construction costs require additional resources and flexibility. She 

suggested increasing subsidies and considering set-asides for households at or below 80% AMI to 

better balance developer feasibility with community needs. She emphasized the need for continued 

dialogue and compromise, acknowledged community displacement concerns, and questioned why the 

Board should proceed now given public and Councilmember opposition, an ongoing land review, and 

requests to pause the resolution to determine a clearer path forward. 

 

Mr. Jeremiah asked the developer why they continued with the application despite opposition from 

both Councilwoman Lozada and the community. 

 

Ms. Brennan Tomasetti of Civetta Property Group responded that while she was aware of community 

opposition, she was not aware of the Councilmember’s direct opposition. She stated that Civetta 

engaged the community, believes there is some neighborhood support, and chose to follow the 

established process to advance the project, emphasizing the urgent need to build more affordable 

housing despite differing community views. 

 

Mr. Folks identified himself as representing Councilmember Lozada and stated that, prior to submitting 

the written opposition, the Council office contacted Mr. Tomasetti twice by phone to directly 

communicate its opposition to the project. 

 

Mr. Jeremiah asked whether there was an opportunity for the Councilwoman, the community, and the 

developer to engage in dialogue to reach a mutually acceptable resolution.  

 

Councilwoman Lozada responded that her office and community groups had repeatedly offered Civetta 

opportunities to negotiate and raised concerns directly. She emphasized that neither she nor the 

community opposes the Turn the Key program but rather the application of a uniform approach that 

does not account for neighborhood-specific needs, and urged flexibility to tailor the program 

accordingly. 

 

Chair Brooks called for a motion.  

 

Ms. Gonzalez moved to postpone the item to allow the Councilwoman’s office, the developer, and the 

community time to negotiate a resolution. After discussion about timing, she amended the motion to a 

60-day postponement.  

 

Mr. Jeremiah seconded the amended motion, and Ms. Brooks called for a vote on the amended 

resolution to postpone the item for at least sixty (60) days. 

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board approved the postponement by a minimum of sixty 

(60) days to allow Councilwoman Lozada, the community, and the developer to engage in further 

negotiations.  

 

V.C.1.  Gardens and Open Space – Faith Eternal Health Care  

 

Ms. Martinez requested Board approval for the conveyance of 2758–60 and 2762 Helen Street in the 

First Council District to Safe Eternal Healthcare, a nonprofit, for use as permanently restricted 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 16 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 13 of 94 

managed open space subject to a 30-year mortgage. She noted the application was unsolicited, 

evaluated under the disposition policy, and that an EOP plan is not required.   

 

Ms. Imredy Saah reported receiving an email from Steven Chervaka requesting consideration of 

parking needs and asking whether the proposed garden would be accessible to neighbors or fenced 

and locked like another community garden space nearby. The written comment is attached to these 

minutes as Exhibit N. 

 

Mr. Rodriguez clarified that public parking is not permitted in garden open space and that the 

property would be subject to a permanent deed restriction. Ms. Imredy Saah added that while 

fencing is required, the space would not be locked and would remain open to the community. 

 

Seeing no further questions, Chair Brooks called for a motion. Mr. Beauvais moved to approve the 

disposition, and Mr. Goodman seconded the motion. 

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution 

Authorizing Conveyance of 2758-60, 2762 Helen Street to By Faith Eternal Health Care. 
(attached as Exhibit O). 
 

V.D.1.  Side/Rear Yards 

 
Ms. Martinez requested Board approval for the conveyance of 2726 North 15th Street to Maurice L. 

Hammond for use as a side yard. She stated that the property will be subject to a 30-year mortgage and 

permanently restricted for side-yard use, the application was unsolicited, and an EOP plan is not 

required.   

 

Ms. Lopez-Kriss noted a potential typo in the resolution listing a $20,000 conveyance price.  

 

Ms. Imredy Saah clarified that $20,000 is the appraised value, with $1 paid at closing and a $19,999 

mortgage, and stated she would revise the resolution to reflect the full price and mortgage. She added 

that there were no public comments. 

 

Chair Brooks called for any further questions from the Board and the public. There were none. She 

then called for a motion. 

 

Mr. Johns moved to approve the disposition, and Ms. Gonzalez seconded the motion. 

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing 

Conveyance of 2726 North 15th Street to Maurice L. Hammond (attached as Exhibit P). 

Item VI 

Public Comment (Old & New Business) 

 

Before moving to the next agenda item, Mr. Goodman asked whether PHDC is considering raising the 

Turn the Key subsidy cap from $75,000 to the $100,000 allowed under the enabling legislation, and 

whether the Board could encourage that discussion. Mr. Rodriguez responded that PHDC is reviewing 

the subsidy level, noted that the PHDC Board Chair has already raised the issue with PHDC, and 

explained that the current cap resulted from extensive deliberation when the program was established, 

though it is now under reconsideration. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 17 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 14 of 94 

 

Ms. Pamela Watson said the side-yard application process has been unclear and inconsistent, citing 

repeated agenda removals of a lot she would like to apply for. Mr. Rodriguez responded that the 

property was removed from a developer proposal, confirmed staff has her application, and said they 

would follow up with her directly. 

 

Mr. Blatstein stated that the Turn the Key process was enacted by City Council and that any changes 

to the program or process should be made legislatively by Council. He expressed frustration with calls 

for neighborhood-specific exceptions, arguing that consistent rules are necessary for clarity and that 

responsibility for changes rests with City Council, not the Land Bank Board. 

 

Mr. Richard Delgado expressed solidarity with residents stewarding vacant lots, emphasizing they are 

not anti-housing but have invested years of sweat equity maintaining community gardens and deserve 

consideration in development decisions. He urged respect for community input on the type of housing 

developed. Separately, he requested an update on Iglesias Gardens’ long-pending Purchase and 

Development Agreement, noting that revisions were submitted ten months ago and the organization is 

still waiting to sign documents. 

 

Ms. Imredy Saah and Mr. Rodriguez explained that revisions to the Purchase and Development 

Agreement, Mortgage, Note, and Declaration of Restrictive Covenants required review and approval 

by the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority to ensure consistency. That review is complete, materials 

were shared with the Neighborhood Gardens Trust earlier this week, and the finalized response and 

PDA will be sent to Mr. Delgado by the end of the week. 

 

Mr. Rushdy indicated that the board discussion is a productive forum for solutions and noted 

opportunities to better align the Turn the Key program with community needs. He explained that 

subsidy levels should respond to interest rates: as rates fall, the same subsidy yields much lower 

payments, potentially wasting funds. He proposed a matrix tying subsidy amounts to market interest 

rates and different AMI levels so assistance can be adjusted over time, allowing deeper subsidies for 

lower-income buyers while maintaining affordable monthly payments. 

 

Mr. Crosley thanked attendees for their patience and noted that, through collaboration among the public 

sector, private developers, and the community, Council District 5 has advanced more than 180 

workforce homeownership units, with over 100 already delivered and 65 more expected by year’s end. 

He also highlighted the recent approval of five tax credit projects totaling over $100 million in 

equitable development. 

 

Mr. Rodriguez echoed those remarks, noting that early coordination helped establish momentum and 

that the current agenda reflects the progress made. He commended the work completed and expressed 

support for continuing future RFPs. 

 

Ms. Pandin objected to her prior comments about a developer being excluded from the minutes, arguing 

that the action was unfair and undemocratic.  

 

Ms. Imredy Saah and Mr. Rodriguez explained that comments asserting unverified factual claims about 

individuals or companies cannot be repeated in the official record because they create potential legal 

liability. Chair Brooks clarified that this policy is applied consistently to all speakers, regardless of 

who makes the statement.  

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 18 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 15 of 94 

Ms. Imredy Saah and Mr. Rodriguez added that while her participation would be noted in the minutes, 

specific unverified allegations would not be included. 

 

Ms. Cummings raised concerns about accessibility and transparency at the in-person meeting, noting 

inadequate microphones, difficulty hearing Board members, the small room size, and health concerns 

due to attendees being seated in such close proximity to each other. She said this created a perception 

that the Board was speaking among itself rather than to the public, and she urged more professional 

accommodations.  

 

Mr. Rodriguez acknowledged the concern and stated that staff are actively working to improve the 

sound system, noting prior attempts to acquire equipment and expressing hope that future budget 

resources will resolve the issue. 

 

Mr. Lawrence Macey of Macey Enterprises LLC introduced himself and his development model, 

which reinvests 50% of net profits into the surrounding community. He emphasized collaboration with 

the Land Bank and community early in the process, noted he plans to submit unsolicited applications, 

and requested the appropriate contact for moving forward. 

 

Mr. Zane Knight suggested that when credible allegations of unethical business practices arise, the 

Board consider tabling the item and requesting further review before disposing of City land. He 

emphasized the importance of due diligence and transparency, without taking a position on the specific 

issue. 

 

Item VII 

Adjournment 

 

Seeing no further comments from the Board or the public, Chair Brooks called for a motion to adjourn. 

 

Mr. Beauvais moved to adjourn the meeting. Ms. Gonzalez seconded the motion.   

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously voted to adjourn at 12:42 p.m. 

 

  

SECRETARY TO THE BOARD 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 19 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 16 of 94 

PUBLIC ATTENDANCE SHEET 

 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

Tuesday, November 18, 2025, at 10:00 AM. 

User Name 
Ron Williams 

Damaris Diaz 

Talia Giles  

Kate Nessmith  

Edward Walker 

Mike Tomasetti 

Brennan Tomasetti 

Jeremy Blatstein 

Tiffany D. Washington 

Kyeaf S. Riddick  

Mo Rushdy 

Councilwoman Quetcy Lozada 

Jacob Pritchett  

Sloane A. Folks  

Richard Kruger Delgado 

Brandon Burns 

Joshua Matthew  

Tom Delucia  

Zane Knight 

Talia Torres 

Desmond Kirton 

David Langlieb 

Clara Morton 

Halee Bouchehrian 

Noah Grossman 

Dennis Maryak 

Gabriel Spiller 

Conlan Crosley  

Nilda L. Pimentel  

Patricia DeCarlo 

Lawrence Macey 

William Gonzalez 

Marguarita Pandin 

Ruth Pamela Watson 

Ashley Knueppel  

Joe Deutschmann 

Bonita Cummings 

Edward Walker 

Relina Bonilla  

Sloan Folks  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 20 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 17 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 21 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 18 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 22 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 19 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 23 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 20 of 94 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 24 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 21 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 25 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 22 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 26 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 23 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 27 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 24 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 28 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 25 of 94 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 29 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 26 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 30 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 27 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 31 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 28 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 32 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 29 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 33 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 30 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 34 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 31 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 35 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 32 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 36 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 33 of 94 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 37 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 34 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 38 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 35 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 39 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 36 of 94 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 40 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 37 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 41 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 38 of 94 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 42 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 39 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 43 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 40 of 94 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 44 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 41 of 94 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 45 of 160



Exhibit A 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 42 of 94 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 46 of 160



Exhibit B 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 43 of 94 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 47 of 160



Exhibit C 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 44 of 94 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 44 

 

RESOLUTION APPOINTING ANGELA BROOKS AS BOARD CHAIR 

 

WHEREAS, Herbert Wetzel was appointed by the Mayor of Philadelphia to serve on the 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors (the “Board”) on April 25, 2024 and served as Chair of 

the Board until he was relieved of his appointment on October 16, 2025; 

 

WHEREAS, on October 17, 2025, Cherelle Parker, Mayor of Philadelphia, appointed Angela 

Brooks to fill the Board of Directors vacancy created by Herbert Wetzel’s departure; 

 

WHEREAS, Section 201 of the Bylaws of the Philadelphia Land Bank (as amended) states 

“If an office is vacated, the position may be filled during a regular meeting of the Board;” 

 

WHEREAS, Angela Brooks is the sole nominee for the office of Board Chair; 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 

Land Bank that, in accordance with Section 201 of the Bylaws of the Philadelphia Land Bank, 

Angela Brooks is elected Chair of the Board until the next election of the officers of the Board of 

Directors is held. 

 

This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18, 2025. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 48 of 160



Exhibit D 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 45 of 94 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 – 45 

 

RESOLUTION AMENDING RESOLUTION 2022-55 TO SUBSTITUTE  

SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES FOR FINE PRINT CONSTRUCTION, LLC 

AS DEVELOPER OF 2329 ELLSWORTH STREET, 2245 FEDERAL STREET,  

1709 POINT BREEZE AVENUE, 1711 POINT BREEZE AVENUE,  

1822–34 REAR POINT BREEZE AVENUE AND 1836 POINT BREEZE AVENUE 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 

Bank (“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 

property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 

Land Bank in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code; 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”), pursuant to Resolution 2022-55 adopted 

on December 13, 2022 (the “Resolution”), approved the conveyance of 2329 Ellsworth Street, 2445 

Federal Street, 1709 Point Breeze Avenue, 1711 Point Breeze Avenue, 1822-34 Rear Point Breeze 

Avenue, and 1836 Point Breeze Avenue (collectively, the “Properties”), in addition to eight (8) 

additional properties not at issue in this request, to Fine Print Construction, LLC (“Fine Print”); 

WHEREAS, Fine Print has requested approval to substitute the following separate special 

purpose entities for Fine Print as Developer of each of the respective Properties: 2329 Ellsworth 

LLC, 2445 Federal LLC, 1709 Point Breeze LLC, 1711 Point Breeze LLC, and SUUDA-Kenyatta 

Bey LLC (for 1822-24 Rear and 1836 Point Breeze Avenue), each of which is a Pennsylvania limited 

liability company whose members are one or both of the same individuals who organized Fine Print 

Construction LLC (the “Special Purpose Entities”); 

WHEREAS, the Special Purpose Entities are in all respects qualified to serve as Developer 

of each of the respective Properties; 

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the best interests of the Land Bank to 

amend the Resolution and approve the substitution of the Special Purpose Entities as Developer of 

each of the respective the Properties, with all other terms of Resolution 2022-55 to remain in full 

force and effect; 

  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 

Philadelphia Land Bank that: 

 

1. The substitution of the Special Purpose Entities as Developer of each of the respective Properties 

is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by resolution of 

Philadelphia City Council.  All other terms and conditions of the approved disposition of the 

Property shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

2. The conveyance of the Properties to the Special Purpose Entities complies with all applicable 

terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code.   

 

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 

and perform any and all agreements and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to 

consummate the conveyance of the Premises (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, 

from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 49 of 160



Exhibit D 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 46 of 94 

or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction Documents and any 

amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as 

the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the 

terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute 

the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 

Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 

following the date of such modifications. 

 

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18, 2025. 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 50 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 47 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 51 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 48 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 52 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 49 of 94 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 53 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 50 of 94 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 54 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 51 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 55 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 52 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 56 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 53 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 57 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 54 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 58 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 55 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 59 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 56 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 60 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 57 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 61 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 58 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 62 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 59 of 94 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 63 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 60 of 94 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 64 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 61 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 65 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 62 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 66 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 63 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 67 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 64 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 68 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 65 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 69 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 66 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 70 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 67 of 94 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 71 of 160



Exhibit E 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 68 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 72 of 160



Exhibit F 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 69 of 94 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 46 

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  

1437, 1438, 1539, 1544, 1546 AND 1610 OGDEN STREET; 863 NORTH 15TH STREET;  

AND 841, 845 AND 851 NORTH 16TH STREET TO  

FRANCISVILLE COMMONS 1, LLC 

 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 

Bank (the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 

property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 

Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the 

terms and conditions of Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code. 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best 

interests of the Land Bank to convey 1437, 1438, 1539, 1544, 1546 and 1610 Ogden Street; 863 

North 15th Street; and 841, 845 and 851 North 16th Street (collectively, the “Property”) to 

Francisville Commons 1, LLC (the “Purchaser”). 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 

Land Bank that: 

 

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Five Thousand and 00/100 U.S. Dollars 

($5,000.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval 

by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-

404 of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 

and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 

desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 

Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 

Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 

Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 

terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 

appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 

Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 

Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 

following the date of such modifications. 

 

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18, 2025. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 73 of 160



Exhibit G 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 70 of 94 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 74 of 160



Exhibit G 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 71 of 94 

 
 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 75 of 160



Exhibit G 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 72 of 94 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 76 of 160



Exhibit G 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 73 of 94 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 77 of 160



Exhibit G 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 74 of 94 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 78 of 160



Exhibit H 

 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 75 of 94 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 47 

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  

1808, 1809, 1810, 1812, 1819, 1824, 1828, 1837 AND 1838 NORTH BAILEY STREET; 2525 AND 

2611 CECIL B. MOORE AVENUE; 1725, 1726, 1729, 1747, 1749 AND 1832 NORTH 26TH STREET; 

AND 1735, 1747 AND 1765 NORTH 27TH STREET TO NATION BUILDERS WFH, LLC 

 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank (the 

“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of the 

Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, subject 

to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and conditions of 

Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code. 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of 

the Land Bank to convey 1808, 1809, 1810, 1812, 1819, 1824, 1828, 1837 and 1838 North Bailey Street; 

2525 and 2611 Cecil B. Moore Avenue; 1725, 1726, 1729, 1747, 1749 and 1832 North 26th Street; and 

1735, 1747 and 1765 North 27th Street (collectively, the “Property”) to Nation Builders WFH, LLC (the 

“Purchaser”). 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land 

Bank that: 

 

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Ten Thousand and 00/100 U.S. Dollars 

($10,000.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by 

resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of 

the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby 

authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform 

any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate 

the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time 

and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be 

necessary or desirable.  The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and 

modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior 

Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so 

executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land 

Bank. 

 

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel 

will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the 

date of such modifications. 

 

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18. 2025. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 79 of 160



Exhibit I 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 76 of 94 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 80 of 160



Exhibit I 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 77 of 94 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 81 of 160



Exhibit I 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 78 of 94 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 82 of 160



Exhibit J 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 79 of 94 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 48 

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  

1816, 1817, 1838, 1839, 1841, 1842, 1843, 1845, 1847, 1848, 1849, 1851, 1853, 1854, 1861, 1862  

AND 1866 NORTH ETTING STREET TO  

NORTH ETTING COMMONS LLC 

 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank (the 

“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of the 

Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, subject 

to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and conditions of 

Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code. 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of 

the Land Bank to convey 1816, 1817, 1838, 1839, 1841, 1842, 1843, 1845, 1847, 1848, 1849, 1851, 1853, 

1854, 1861, 1862 and 1866 North Etting Street (collectively, the “Property”) to North Etting Commons 

LLC (the “Purchaser”). 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land 

Bank that: 

 

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Seven Thousand and 00/100 U.S. Dollars 

($7,000.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by 

resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of 

the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby 

authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform 

any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate 

the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time 

and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be 

necessary or desirable.  The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and 

modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior 

Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so 

executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land 

Bank. 

 

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel 

will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the 

date of such modifications. 

 

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18, 2025. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 83 of 160



Exhibit K 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 80 of 94 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 84 of 160



Exhibit K 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 81 of 94 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 85 of 160



Exhibit K 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 82 of 94 
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 86 of 160



Exhibit L 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 83 of 94 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 49 

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  

2420, 2438, 2442, 2456, 2648, 2650 AND 2651 NORTH CORLIES STREET; 2519, 2600, 2603, 2611, 

2640, 2931, 2935, 3019, 3021, 3027, 3029, 3031 AND 3039 WEST OAKDALE STREET; 2423, 2425, 

2437, 2446, 2501, 2502, 2504, 2505, 2506, 2513, 2516, 2517, 2526, 2529, 2539, 2542, 2556 AND 2567 

NORTH STANLEY STREET TO CIVETTA PROPERTY GROUP LLC 

 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank (the 

“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of the 

Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, subject 

to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and conditions of 

Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code. 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of 

the Land Bank to convey 2420, 2438, 2442, 2456, 2648, 2650 and 2651 North Corlies Street; 2519, 2600, 

2603, 2611, 2640, 2931, 2935, 3019, 3021, 3027, 3029, 3031 and 3039 West Oakdale Street; 2423, 2425, 

2437, 2446, 2501, 2502, 2504, 2505, 2506, 2513, 2516, 2517, 2526, 2529, 2539, 2542, 2556 and 2567 North 

Stanley Street (collectively, the “Property”) to Civetta Property Group LLC (the “Purchaser”). 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land 

Bank that: 

 

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Three Thousand Eight Hundred and 00/100 U.S. 

Dollars ($3,800.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval 

by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of 

the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby 

authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform any 

and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate the 

conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time and at any 

time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or 

desirable.  The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall 

contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 

appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the Land Bank 

shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel 

will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the 

date of such modifications. 

 

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18, 2025. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 87 of 160



Exhibit M 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 84 of 94 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 88 of 160



Exhibit M 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 85 of 94 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 89 of 160



Exhibit M 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 86 of 94 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 90 of 160



Exhibit M 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 87 of 94 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 91 of 160



Exhibit M 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 88 of 94 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 92 of 160



Exhibit M 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 89 of 94 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 93 of 160



Exhibit M 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 90 of 94 

 
 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 94 of 160



Exhibit M 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 91 of 94 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 95 of 160



Exhibit N 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 92 of 94 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 96 of 160



Exhibit O 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025  Page 93 of 94 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 50 

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  

2758-60 AND 2762 HELEN STREET TO  

BY FAITH ETERNAL HEALTH CARE 

 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank (the 

“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of the 

Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, subject 

to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and conditions of 

Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code. 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of 

the Land Bank to convey 2758-60 Helen Street and 2782 Helen Street (collectively, the “Property”) to By 

Faith Eternal Health Care (the “Purchaser”). 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land 

Bank that: 

 

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Two and 00/100 U.S. Dollars ($2.00) and a 

mortgage in the amount of One Hundred Twenty-One Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety-Eight and 

00/100 U.S. Dollars ($121,998.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, 

subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of 

the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby 

authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform 

any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate 

the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time 

and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be 

necessary or desirable.  The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and 

modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior 

Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so 

executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land 

Bank. 

 

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel 

will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the 

date of such modifications. 

 

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18, 2025. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 97 of 160



Exhibit P 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 94 of 94 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 51 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF 

2726 NORTH 15TH STREET TO  

MAURICE L. HAMMOND 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank (the 

“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of the 

Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, subject 

to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and conditions of 

Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code. 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of 

the Land Bank to convey 2726 North 15th Street (the “Property”) to Maurice L. Hammond (the 

“Purchaser”). 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land 

Bank that: 

6. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for One and 00/100 U.S. Dollar ($1.00) and a

mortgage of Nineteen Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety-Nine and 00/100 U.S. Dollars ($19,999.00) is in

the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by resolution of

Philadelphia City Council.

7. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of

the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.

8. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby

authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform

any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate

the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time

and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be

necessary or desirable.  The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and

modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior

Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so

executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land

Bank.

9. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel

will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the

date of such modifications.

10. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board.

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18, 2025. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 98 of 160




